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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 


                         99802-5512
	JEFFREY R. PIERCE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

DARDAN, INC., d/b/a

KAPTAIN’S KEG,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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)


	        INTERLOCUTORY

        DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200201339
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0346

        Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

        on December 23, 2005.


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for benefits on November 8, 2005 at Juneau, Alaska.  The employee appeared pro se.   Attorney Deirdre Ford represented the employer and insurer.  The record was held open for receipt of Dr. Lazar’s deposition on November 28, 2005. The record then closed when the Board next met on November 29, 2005.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee’s claim for his January 22, 2002 work injury compensable pursuant to 
AS 23.30.120?

2. Is the employee entitled to payment for medical expenses pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

3. Is the employee entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) pursuant to AS 23.30.185 pursuant to AS 23.30.185?

4. Is the employee entitled to temporary partial disability (PTD) pursuant to AS 23.30.200?

5. Is the employee entitled to a permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating pursuant to AS 23.30.190?

6. Is the employee entitled to interest on late paid benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
The employee worked as a teller-stocker for the employer, a Ketchikan liquor store.  On January 22, 2002, the employee reported he was stocking shelves when he experienced a pop in his neck followed by neck and shoulder and migraine pain.
  

The employee sought treatment on January 31, 2002 at the Ketchikan General Hospital emergency room.   The diagnosis was acute right trapezius strain.  He was released with pain medications and to modified work.
  The employee again sought medical care at the Ketchikan General Hospital emergency room on  February 7, 2002.
 He complained of continuing right scapular shoulder pain.  The diagnosis was right shoulder girdle sprain, secondary to strain.  He received pain medications and was to follow up with a local orthopedic physician.  On February 14, 2002, the employee was seen by Alan Wolf, M.D., an orthopedic physician and surgeon.
  The employee complained of trapezius muscle and neck pain, primarily on the right but also on the left.  The employee had not had prior neck and shoulder injuries.  The assessment was cervical spine and trapezius strain. Dr. Wolf recommended physical therapy and Flexeril and ibuprofen.  The employee was allowed to continue at work with a ten pound lifting restriction.  He underwent physical therapy in March 2002.
  The employee saw Dr. Wolf again on April 19, 2002.
 The physical therapy was not reordered as the employee felt it made his condition worse.  He continued to work but tried to “take it easy.”  The diagnosis was “cervical spine strain-improving.”  Dr. Wolf changed the employee’s medications, discontinued physical therapy and expected that the maximum improvement would not occur for another two to three months.  Dr. Wolf saw the employee again on May 28, 2002.  He considered the cervical spine condition to be improving slowly.

The employee continued to work for the employer until the employee moved to Washington in July 2002.
   He received TTD benefits from July 1, 2002 through May 26, 2003.
  He saw Elmer Casey, M.D., on  July 16, 2002.  He indicated the employee could work with a 20 pound lifting restriction.  He renewed the employee’s prescriptions for Vioxx, Soma, Darvocet and Robaxin.  Dr. Casey also recommended an MRI.
   

On July 30, 2002, the employee saw Gary Hendricksen, M.D.
 He diagnosed a neck sprain.  He felt the employee could work with restrictions.  An MRI was performed August 13, 2002.  The impression was small left paracentral disc protrusion at C3-4, not impressing upon the neural foramen or spinal cord and mild degenerative disc disease at C5-6, C6-7 and T1-2 without herniation or stenosis.
 There was also mild disc space narrowing at C4-5. 

Dr. Hendricksen reviewed the MRI results and recommended no work restrictions and that the employee follow through on physical therapy.  He also suggested a possible cervical epidural although the problem area was noted as being on the left side at C3-4 and not on the right.  The employee saw Dr. Hendricksen for review of the MRI results.  At this point, he complained of periodic severe cervical and upper back spasms.  His diagnosis was cervical disc degeneration.
  The employee again saw Dr. Hendricksen on September 23,2003.  He complained that he still had pain whenever he tried to do any type of activity.  However, according to Dr. Hendricksen, the employee was not attending physical therapy and was working.  On this basis, Dr. Hendricksen cleared the employee for full duty work and told him he could return if he wished to be evaluated for an epidural injection.
  On October 22, 2002, Dr. Hendricksen referred the employee for a consultation with a neurosurgeon and possible work up for an epidural injection.

On November 4, 2002, the employee was seen by Peter G. Brown, M.D.
 He noted the employee complained of right side neck pain which extended into the scapular area.  The pain was described as throbbing and spasmodic and it also had a chronic component.  It was described as hurting with any type of movement and improved when he was lying still.  The physical therapy which the employee had attempted in Washington brought some transcient improvement.  Dr. Brown’s diagnosis was right-sided neck pain with muscle spasm and arthritis.  He considered the right-sided neck and shoulder pain to be musculoskeletal in nature.  He was concerned over the snapping and popping he heard when the employee moved his neck.  He recommended that a right-sided cervical facet block might prove useful.  Dr. Brown opined that if these measures did not bring about improvement, an EMG
 might be useful to rule out occult radiculopathy or a peripheral entrapment syndrome.

On November 4, 2002, x-rays were done which showed the employee’s cervical spine to be normal.  The employee was released to return to work on November 12, 2002, with a ten pound lifting restriction.
  On November 19, 2002, cervical spine x-rays were done.  They showed no acute fracture or subluxation.  No instability was identified on flexion or extension imaging.
  On December 11, 2002, the employee underwent cervical facet blocks at C3, 4, 5, 6 and 7.
  This treatment option was pursued after Dr. Brown felt the employee had not responded to conservative treatment.

The employee was again seen by Dr. Brown on January 29, 2003.  The employee did not receive much benefit from the injections or from physical therapy.  Because the employee’s MRI was essentially normal, Dr. Brown recommended physical therapy and work hardening and possibly a physical capacities examination.

The employee testified at the hearing that he became unhappy with Dr. Hendricksen and sought referral to another physician.
  This was after Dr. Hendricksen found that the employee was able to work without restriction.
  In his February 28, 2003 visit with Dr. Hendricksen, the employee again reported that he was not improving and feeling worse after physical therapy.
  However, Dr. Hendricksen felt the employee was “fixed and stable by default” and requested an IME.  The employee was also referred for a second neurosurgical opinion.

On March 8, 2003, the employee was seen at the emergency room of Harrison Silverdale hospital for radiculopathy and neck spasm.
  On April 4, 2003, the employee was seen at the emergency room at Harrison Hospital in Bremerton, Washington, for chronic neck pain.
   At the hearing, the employee testified that some of his medical expenses were paid by his parents.  Others were covered by private health insurance he acquired for short periods of time as he could afford coverage. 

On March 26, 2003, the employee was seen by Daniel Nehls, M.D., a neurological surgeon.
 He diagnosed neck and shoulder pain with small disc herniation at C3-C 4.  He recommended a discogram as he felt the employee’s pain might be discogenic in nature.

A discogram was performed on the employee on April 11, 2003.  Joseph Jasper, M.D., found that the concordant disc was C5-6 with exact pattern reproduction.  The pain was intense at only .1cc and low moderate pressure with posterior protrusion.  The 3-4 disc provoked discordantly higher and to the left.

On April 19, 2003, the employee again presented at the emergency room at Harrison Hospital.  He complained of continuing neck pain and requested that his Percocet prescription be refilled.

The employee saw Richard. McCollum, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME)
 on April 24, 2003. He noted that there was a discrepancy in that there was a bulging disc at C3-4 but it was on the left side and the employee’s symptoms were on the right.
 He found that the employee’s diagnosis was minor cervical strain, which had resolved, and did not require further treatment, that the employee was medically stable, that he had no permanent impairment and that he could return to work without restrictions.  Based on this report, the employee’s benefits were controverted by the employer on May 23, 2003 and August 21, 2003.

On April 30, 2003, the employee again saw Dr. Nehls.
  He interpreted the discogram to demonstrate significant 9/10 concordant disc pain at C 5-6.  There also was discordant pain at C 3-4 and discordant pressure at C 6-7.  He recommended considering anterior cervical discectomy and fusion at this level once he had marked concordant pain.  Dr. Nehls advised the employee this  was typically a good predictor that the discectomy and fusion would eliminate his discogenic pain  

On June 23, 2003, Dr. Jasper reviewed the April 24, 2003 McCollum EME report.
  He noted that the EME physician did not give proper weight to the provocation discography and the concordant provocation at 
C 5-6.  Dr. Jasper opined that the employee does have objective disc pathology which correlates with his history and the MRI.  Dr. Jasper opined that when informed of the provocation discography, the EME should have looked it over and incorporated it into his findings.  According to Dr. Jasper, his failure to do so rendered the EME conclusions erroneous.  

The employee moved from Washington state to Las Vegas, Nevada in late June, 2003.  On July 1, 2003, the employee sought treatment for his neck and back from Gary Karl, D.O., an osteopath.
  He diagnosed cervical, thoracic, lumbar and sacroiliac strain, history of herniated cervical disc/bulging disc, history of abnormal discogram in the neck and paresthesias on the right upper extremity due to persistent muscle spasms in the neck and upper back.
  The employee underwent manipulations, received pain medications and instruction for prescribed exercises.
  Dr. Karl took the employee off work for several weeks.

The employee filed his workers’ compensation claim on July 22, 2003.  He sought medical benefits and TTD.

The employee continued to see Dr. Karl.  On July 8, 2003, he again saw the employee and noted the employee demonstrated back muscle twitching and tightness throughout his neck and back.  The employee received manipulative treatment and Vioxx and Valium for his muscle twitching.
  He was seen again on July 22, 2003.
  He received manipulative and high voltage muscle treatment and his condition seemed to be improving.
  On July 31, 2003, a MRI brain scan was performed and the results were normal. The employee was again seen on August 8, 2003.  A possible evaluation of the muscle twitching was discussed,  probably to be done by a neurologist to rule out various other causes.
  The medications were refilled and the employee was encouraged to do his home exercises.
  The employee was again seen on August 15, 2003, by Dr. Karl.
  He received neck injections.  Another MRI was also discussed.

On August 29, 2003, Dr. Hendricksen reviewed the results of the April 24, 2003 McCollum EME and expressed his concurrence with the EME evaluation and conclusions.

The employee continued to see Dr. Karl.  In his visit with Dr. Karl on September 29, 2003, the employee’s tremors continued as well as his pain throughout his neck and back.  Dr. Karl attributed them to dystonia.
  The employee received manipulations. Further home exercise was encouraged and the employee received some physical therapy.
  Dr. Karl again saw the employee on October 13, 2003.  The employee reported neck and back pain and continued tremors although the tremors were reduced in severity.  Additional physical therapy was recommended.  Dr. Karl reported that the employee was starting to feel better.
 The employee was again seen on October 23, 2003.  The employee reported progress since his last visit and reduced tremors but he was still uncomfortable.  He voiced a desire to return to work but concern over whether working would aggravate his condition.  Dr. Karl recommended a work hardening program to evaluate his work readiness and to give him an idea what types of work he could perform and what he should avoid.  The employee underwent manipulation and high voltage muscle stimulation.  His medications were also adjusted to include migraine medications and physical therapy was continued.
  The employee again saw Dr. Karl on October 31, 2003.  The employee had begun the work hardening program and his tremors were gone although he still had some headaches and pain in his neck, shoulders and back.  The employee was referred for epidural injections based on the abnormal discogram of the neck.
  Dr. Karl again saw the employee on November 21, 2003.  He noted the employee was still having some symptoms including headaches and continuing pain.  The employee received medications, adjustment and home exercise was recommended.
  The records do not reflect further treatment from Dr. Karl.  The employee testified that he stopped seeing Dr. Karl because of lack of health care coverage.
  He would have continued treating with Dr. Karl if he had been able to maintain coverage.
  He did not have medical treatment after this time due to lack of medical coverage.

On November 23, 2003, a letter from the physical therapist to Dr. Karl was issued.  It reported that the employee had made progress with physical therapy but he still complained of pain in the right sub-occipital, upper trapezius and rhomboid region which increased with upper body activities and prolonged sitting and standing.  The report indicated that further treatment would be placed on hold pending receipt of further orders from Dr. Karl.

On December 30, 2003, the employee’s physical therapy treatment was terminated due to the absence of medical insurance coverage.

 On February 20, 2004, Dr. Karl responded to an inquiry as to his views on Dr. McCollum’s April 24, 2003 EME report.
  He stated that he did not agree with Dr. McCollum’s opinion that the employee would not suffer permanent impairment.  He also opined that the employee could not go back to work as a stocker.  He further opined that the employee needed a neurological evaluation to detemine his permanent impairment rating.

On February 23, 2005, the employee was seen for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) by Sanford Lazar, M.D.
  Dr. Lazar is an orthopedic specialist.  He issued his report on March 9, 2005. He examined the employee and reviewed his medical records.  His diagnosis was chronic cervicothoracic sprain and chronic periscapular fibrositis.
  Dr. Lazar concluded that the employee’s pain in the interscapular and paracervical areas of the right side of the neck were related to the work injury of January 17, 2002.  Traditional treatment for neck strain was initiated but the employee’s condition did not improve.  Dr. Lazar did not consider the employee’s condition to require surgery.  However, he agreed with the employee that Dr. Karl’s treatment was most effective although the employee had not seen Dr. Karl since November 2003.  Dr. Lazar went on to opine that although the employee began with a neck sprain caused by the work injury, the condition progressed causing an inflammatory mechanism in the soft tissues of the neck and upper back.  If this condition becomes chronic, the injured person may develop subscapular crepitus and/or painful snapping similar to what the employee experienced.
 Dr. Lazar noted that this condition is difficult to diagnose and treat. Dr. Lazar did not believe the condition warranted surgery.  Dr. Lazar did not find that the January 22, 2002 work injury aggravated any preexisting condition.  Dr. Lazar considered Dr. Karl’s modality type therapy to be helpful with patients having a problem such as the employee’s.  Dr. Lazar also recommended Pilates and yoga.  Dr. Lazar opined that getting serious about either of these modalities would mean the employee would make additional improvement.
  Dr. Lazar did not believe the employee was medically stable.  However, if the employee could resume treatment similar to that received from Dr. Karl, he could be medically stable in three to six months.
  Dr. Lazar did not believe the employee could return to work without limitations such as avoiding heavy lifting or repeated lifting of smaller weights, i.e. 15-20 pounds, and avoiding overhead work.  Dr. Lazar deferred a rating to the time of medical stability.  In his deposition, Dr. Lazar estimated that the employee, when medically stable, would be eligible for a three to five percent whole body award.
  Dr. Lazar opined that the employee could not return to his former work as a stocker.
  Nor could he work as a bartender due to the lifting and standing entailed.
  Dr. Lazar opined that before the employee could be rated, he would need treatment similar to what he received from Dr. Karl.
   Dr. Lazar agreed that if Dr. Karl reported no improvement in the employee’s condition while treating him, the employee could be considered medically stable.
  Dr. Lazar opined that the employee was not the same person as before he got hurt and, on this basis, the employee would be entitled to some impairment rating.

At the time of the hearing, the employee had returned to live in Anchorage, Alaska. The employee testified that he just wants treatment for his back condition so it can be addressed and he can get on with his life.  He was not receiving medical care at the time of the hearing.
  He was trying to obtain work driving a snowplow.

The employee contends that the reports of Dr. Jasper, Dr. Karl, Dr. Nehls, Dr. Wolf and Dr. Lazar, the SIME physician, all support his need for medical care during the time period since his injury as well as his need for time loss.  He also cites the August 13, 2002 MRI showing a herniation and protrusion at C 3-4 and the discogram as objective evidence supporting the existence of an unresolved condition traceable to his January 17, 2002
 work injury. 

The employee testified that his medical care for his condition has been sporadic.  He has had to rely on family members to assist with payment of medical expenses.  He has also tried to work at times and when he was working, he made efforts to purchase medical coverage in order to obtain treatment for his neck and shoulder.  The employee tried to continue working during the weeks following the initial injury in January 2002, but when the employer was purchased by new owners, he was not  accommodated by the new owners.
   He felt that Dr. Karl really took an interest in his condition and tried to help him and that he did benefit from the treatment rendered by Dr. Karl. He denies working at strenuous jobs.  He expressed a willingness to work with the employer to determine time loss and eligibility for TTD and TPD.

The employer contends that Dr. Lazar found the employee to be medically stable when the definition of medical stability was read to him at his November 1, 2005 deposition.  The employer also contends that the employee was performing various types of work, some of which involved heavy labor, and this would contradict any finding that the employee was entitled to time loss.  The employer agrees that the presumption of compensability has been raised by the employee.   However, the employer contends that the reports of Dr. Hendricksen and the EME Dr. McCollum rebut the presumption of compensability and that the employee was not entitled to time loss after May 2003, based on the report of Dr. McCollum and the reports of Dr. Hendricksen.  The employer also asserts that based on these reports, the employee was medically stable, needed no further treatment and could return to work without restriction in April 2003.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. COMPENSABILITY OF THE CLAIM

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, the Board finds the claimant has introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability.
   This determination is based on the employee’s testimony as to how the accident occurred, the reports from Ketchikan General Hospital emergency room and the February 2002 reports of Dr. Wolf.  We find the employee has introduced sufficient “minimal” evidence to establish the compensability of his claim.  We also find that this claim is based on highly technical medical considerations and that the claimant has presented medical evidence necessary to make that connection between the employee’s injury and his employment.
  Following the Court’s rationale in Meek,
 the Board applies the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the benefits claimed. 

Once the employee establishes the presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
     The Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation to determine whether it has: (1) produced substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminated any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

The employer presented evidence from EME physician Dr. McCollum  to show that the employee’s neck and shoulder condition had resolved. Dr. McCollum found that the employee’s diagnosis was minor cervical strain which had resolved and did not require further treatment, the employee was medically stable, that he had no permanent impairment and that he could return to work with no restrictions. The Board also relies on Dr. Hendricksen’s reports.  Dr. Hendricksen found the employee was able to work without restrictions and found him to be “fixed and stable by default.”
  Dr. Hendricksen also reviewed Dr. McCollum’s April 24, 2003 EME report and agreed with the EME evaluation and conclusions.
 The Board does not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the second stage of the presumption analysis.
  We find the evidence presented by Dr. McCollum and Dr. Hendricksen rebuts the presumption of compensability.  

At the third stage, the presumption drops out and the employee must prove his claim for benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.
   It is not necessary that work is the legal cause.  Rather, we are instructed by the Alaska Supreme Court that we are to impose workers' compensation liability "whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability."
  A "causal factor" is a legal cause if "it is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm" at issue.
 

The Board has reviewed the evidence submitted by the parties and finds that the employee has established that his claim is compensable by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board bases its finding on both objective evidence as shown in the August 13, 2002 MRI which shows a herniated/protruded disc as C3-4 as well as degenerative disc disease.  The Board also relies on the discogram which, according to Dr. Nehls’ report of April 30, 2003, shows discogenic pain at C 5-6.  The Board also gives credence to the opinion of Dr. Jasper in his June 23, 2003 letter where he notes that Dr. McCollum did not give proper weight to the discogram and the concordant provocation at C 5-6.  The Board notes that Dr. Jasper opines that the employee does have objective disc pathology which correlates with the employee’s history and the MRI.  The Board gives weight to Dr. Jasper’s opinion that Dr. McCollum’s EME report and opinions are deficient because he did not consider or factor in the provocation discography. The Board also relies upon Dr. Karl’s February 20, 2004 letter disagreeing with Dr. McCollum’s conclusions as to the absence of permanent impairment.  Dr. Karl notes in this letter that the employee can not return to his job at the time of injury and that he will need a neurological evaluation before his impairment rating can be determined. The Board places greater weight upon Dr. Karl’s opinion than Dr. McCollum’s based upon Dr. Karl’s length of treatment of the employee and his success in improving the employee’s condition and the SIME physician Dr. Lazar’s recognition of the appropriate and effective treatment the employee received from Dr. Karl.  Dr. McCollum, on the other hand, saw the employee on only one occasion and in conducting the evaluation, as the Board has noted, failed to consider critical medical evidence.  The Board agrees with Dr. Jasper’s critique of Dr. McCollum’s EME report and gives the EME report less weight because the discography information is not addressed  and because Dr. Karl notes the employee will have a permanent impairment and cannot return to his job at the time of injury.

The Board also gives considerable weight to Dr. Karl’s treatment and Dr. Lazar’s opinion regarding the nature of the employee’s condition and the treatment required.  Review of Dr. Karl’s records show that this is the only time when the employee’s condition improved.  Dr. Lazar reviewed Dr. Karl’s reports and recommends that the employee seek out further treatment to address his condition from a provider who offers treatment modalities similar to those used by Dr. Karl along with possibly relying on Pilates or yoga.  The Board agrees with the diagnoses of both Dr. Karl and Dr. Lazar.  The Board notes in arriving at its decision to rely on Dr. Lazar that he did not agree that the employee was medically stable at the time he saw the employee in February and March 2005.  His specific findings include a diagnosis of chronic cervicothoracic sprain and chronic periscapular fibrositis.  Dr. Lazar finds that this condition was related to the employee’s work injury.  He notes the snapping and crepitus associated with this condition and finds that this is similar to what the employee demonstrates.  He also notes that the employee would oimprove with additional treatment similar to what Dr. Karl provided along with Pilates or yoga.  If such treatment were undertaken, the employee would be medically stable in three to six months.  Dr. Lazar also felt the employee could not go back to his previous job and needed to work with specific restrictions regarding lifting and overhead work.    Dr. Lazar also recommended a neurological evaluation prior to any PPI rating being done.  Dr. Lazar estimated the impairment would range between three and six percent.  Based on these reports, the Board adopts the conclusions of Dr. Karl and Dr. Lazar.  The Board rejects the reports of Dr. McCollum and Dr. Hendricksen.  In so doing, the Board relies on Dr. Lazar’s opinion that the condition he diagnoses the employee to be suffering from is difficult to diagnose and treat.  The Board adopts the reports of Dr. Lazar and Dr. Karl in arriving at its conclusion regarding comepnsability.  It also gives weight to other physicians who treated the employee including Dr. Jasper, Dr. Brown, Dr. Nehls and Dr. Wolf.   Taken together, the Board concludes that the employee has established the compensability of his January 2002 work injury by a preponderance of the evidence.

        II.         MEDICAL BENEFITS


AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
 Medical transportation costs are included. Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  
Applying the presumption analysis to the employee’s request for medical benefits, the Board finds that the presumption is raised by the employee’s account about how the work injury occurred as well as the reports of care rendered the employee at the emergency room at Ketchikan General Hospital and the reports of Dr. Wolf.

Once the employee establishes the presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut the presumption with substantial evidence.  The evidence produced is examined in isolation.  The Board finds that the reports of Dr. Hendricksen and the EME report of Dr. McCollum are sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability as to medical benefits.  Dr. McCollum in his April 24, 2003 report found the employee was medically stable, his neck strain had resolved and he needed no further treatment.  Dr, Hendricksen did provide medical treatment for the employee from July 30, 2002 through February 23, 2003 when he found the employee was fixed and stable.  Based on these reports, the Board finds that the presumption of compensability regarding medical benefits is rebutted by the employer.  

Turning to the third stage of the presumption analysis, the Board, as in section I. above, finds that the employee has established by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095 for reasonable and necessary medical care.  The Board bases this finding on the treatment that was rendered by Dr. Karl from July 1, 2003 through November 21, 2003.  Dr. Karl’s reports show the employee received and benefited from manipulations, medications, counseling regarding employment capabilities, physical therapy and home exercise.  Dr. Karl’s reports show that this has been the only treatment which has been even modestly successful in bringing the employee’s symptoms under control and bringing about objective improvement.  The Board also relies on the opinion of the SIME physician, Dr. Lazar. He recommended the modalities of treatment the employee received from Dr. Karl to help bring the employee to medical stability.  He also prescribed Pilates or yoga.  Dr. Karl also prescribed a neurological evaluation prior to the employee undergoing an impairment rating.  All of these treatments are considered by the Board to be reasonable and necessary medical care and care which the process of recovery may require pursuant to AS 23.30.095. 

The Board rejects Dr. Hendricksen’srecommendations that the employee receive no further medical care.  Furhter, the Board rejects Dr. McCollum’s opinions based opon failure to consider the discogram information in reaching his conclusions regarding the employee’s condition.  The Board finds persuasive Dr. Karl’s statement in his letter of February 20, 2004, where he disagrees with Dr. McCollum’s opinion that the employee will not have a permanent impairment.  The Board finds Dr. Karl’s opinions persuasive because of the length of time he treated the employee and his more intimate knowledge of the employee’s condition.  For these reasons, the Board relies on the reports of Dr. Karl and the SIME report of Dr. Lazar to find the employee is entitled to medical benefits from July 1, 2003 to the present.  The Board finds that the treatment provided by Dr. Karl and the other physicians and the treatment recommended by Dr. Karl and Dr. Lazar is reasonable and necessary.  The Board further finds the employee is  entitled to reimbursement of his out-of-pocket expenses and any bills which were paid by third parties such as his parents or his personal health care insurance provider.

III. TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY AND TEMPORARY PARTIAL DISABIITY

AS 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.200(a) provides, in part:


In case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee's spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage earning capacity of the employee after the injury … to be paid during the continuance of the disability . . . .  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
   In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  

In this case, the employer does not dispute the compensability of the employee’s injury or his initial disability from work.  The dispute is simply whether or not the employee reached “medical stability” thereby terminating his entitlement to TTD and TPD benefits.  That the employee “suffered a work-related injury for which he received compensation from [the employer] is sufficient to establish a preliminary link between his employment and his continuing disability thus implicat​ing AS 23.30.120(a).”
 

Based on the testimony of the employee, and the medical records of Dr. Lazar, Dr. Wolf and Dr. Karl, we find the employee was not medically stable at the time of the hearing.  Applying the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the employee raised the presumption of compensability as to his neck, shoulder and back injury based on his testimony, the medical records of his emergency room visits to Ketchikan General hospital early in 2002 and the reports of Dr. Wolf. The employee made efforts to work during this time period but it was not without restriction and ultimately he had to leave work because his restrictions could not or would not be accommodated by the new owners of the employer.

When the employee went to Washington state, he was seen by Dr. Hendricksen and the EME physician, Dr. McCollum.  Dr. McCollum felt that the employee’s cervical strain had resolved, that it did not require further treatment, that the employee was medically stable, that he had no permanent impairment and that he could return to work without restrictions.  Dr. Hendricksen, after releasing the employee to work with restriction, eventually determined the employee was “fixed and stable” in his February 28, 2003 report.  Ultimately, Dr. Hendricksen reviewed the EME report of Dr. McCollum and agreed with the evaluation and conclusions.  The Board finds that these reports were sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability as to time loss. 

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the presumption drops out and the employee is required to establish his eligibility for time loss by a preponderance of the evidence.  The employee was seen by a number of doctors including Dr. Wolf and Dr. Jasper.  They apparently allowed him to work with restrictions.  However, the employee was off work most of the time he was seeing Dr. Karl, although work hardening and types of work were being discussed with the employee toward the end of his treatment with Dr. Karl in November of 2003.  When the employee was seen by Dr. Lazar, he was not medically stable.  However, when Dr. Lazar was deposed on November 1, 2005, he was read the definition of medical stability found in AS 23.30.395 and he indicated that according to this definition, the employee was medically stable at least when he was being treated by Dr. Karl.  The employer asserts that based on Dr. Lazar’s deposition testimony, the employee should be found to be medically stable.  However, we disagree.  Further reading of the Lazar report and the deposition indicates that Dr. Lazar felt that the employee would benefit from additional medical treatment from someone who could provide treatment modalities similar to those provided by Dr. Karl.  If this were to be done, Dr. Lazar opined that the employee would be medically stable in three to six months.  Based on the reports of Dr. Karl and Dr. Lazar, the Board finds that the employee has had varying periods of eligibility for time loss from the period of the injury through the date of hearing.  The Board finds that the employee is clearly medically unstable and not able to work for the period from July 1, 2003 through the date of hearing.  However, we are also mindful that the employee did engage in efforts to do some short-term types of work which never lasted for very long due to his January 2002 work injury.  For this reason, we ask the parties to resolve on a week-by week basis, relying on the report of Dr. Karl and Dr. Lazar and the employee’s recollections of his work history to come up with periods of eligibility for time loss.  In the event the parties are unable to resolve this issue, the Board will retain jurisdiction over this issue in order to entertain further evidence and argument by the parties. 


IV.  PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT

            AS 23.30.190(a) provides, in part:

In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation rate is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  

Because the Board has adopted the report of Dr. Lazar and the reports of Dr. Karl, as set out above, the Board will require the employee to seek further treatment for three to six months as is consistent with Dr. Lazar’s recommendations.  Also, in accord with Dr. Lazar’s recommendations, when the employee is determined to be medically stable, a neurological evaluation shall be performed and an impairment rating performed at that time if the evaluation deems it to be appropriate. 

V. INTEREST

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(d) . . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under(d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

8 AAC 45.142. concerns interest and provides:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070 (a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000. If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation. 

(b) The employer shall pay the interest 

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee or, if deceased, to the employee's beneficiary or estate; 

(2) on late-paid death benefits to the widow, widower, child or children, or other beneficiary who is entitled to the death benefits, or the employee's estate; 

(3) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee's beneficiary or estate, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid. 

The employer did not pay the employee any TPD or TTD benefits between May 23, 2003 and the present.  We have determined that benefits are due for TPD and TTD during this time period.  8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at the statutory rate from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical benefits and medical transportation costs, is due to compensate for the lost time value of money.
  We find a determination regarding whether to award interest on unpaid benefits is not discretionary.  Accordingly, we conclude the employer is obligated to pay interest from May 23, 2003 to the present on unpaid TPD or TTD benefits.  The Board further finds that interest is due on unpaid medical benefits including medical transportation costs payable pursuant to AS 23.30.095 and 8 AAC 45.142.


ORDER

1.  The employee has established a compensable claim related to his January 22, 2002 work  injury.

       2.  The employee is entitled to compensation or reimbursement for medical expenses and medical transportation expenses associated with medical care related to the January 22, 2002 work injury.  This includes payment for out-of-pocket expenses, payments made by third parties and payments made by his private insurance carrier.  The employee is also entitled to medical care for his current condition pursuant to AS 23.30.095.

       3.  The employee is entitled to TTD pursuant to AS 23.30.185 or TPD pursuant to AS 23.30.200 for the period since his January 22, 2002 work injury from May 26, 2003 through the date of medical stability.  Eligibility for benefits will be determined in accordance with the terms of this order.  The parties shall submit to the Board the results of their resolution of TPD and TTD payments due the employee or notice that the parties have not reached resolution no later than February 1, 2006.  The Board shall maintain jurisdiction over the employee’s entitlement to TTD and TPD.  

4.  The employee should be evaluated for a PPI rating when he has reached medical stability and after a neurological evaluation as been performed as recommended by SIME physician Dr. Lazar and Dr. Karl.

5.   The employee is entitled to interest on late paid TTD, TPD and medical benefits in accordance with 8 AAC 45.142 and the terms of this order.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska on December 23, 2005.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained.  

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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